IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA **CASE NO. 01-373** LEE COUNTY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC., Appellant, VS. E. LEON JACOBS, JR., et al., Appellees. ON REVIEW FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION Case No. PSC-01-0217-FOF-EC INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT HENDERSON FRANKLIN **HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP** STARNES & HOLT Steven L. Brannock D. Bruce May John A. Noland P.O. Box 280 P.O. Box 1288 Ft. Myers, Florida 33902 Tampa, Florida 33601

#

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Lee County Electric Cooperative, Inc. ("LCEC") appeals the decision of the Florida Public Service Commission (the "Commission") dismissing, on jurisdictional grounds, LCEC's Complaint concerning the wholesale rate structure imposed by Seminole Electric Cooperative, Inc. ("Seminole"). LCEC purchases power generated by Seminole for distribution to LCEC's retail customers. LCEC's Complaint centers around a change in Seminole's rate structure that departs from generally accepted rate making standards and unwisely discourages the conservation of electric power.

When LCEC brought its Complaint to the Commission, Seminole moved to dismiss, arguing that the Commission has no jurisdiction over the wholesale rate structure of rural electric cooperatives. The Commission's legal and technical staff unanimously recommended that Seminole's motion be denied on the basis that the Commission did, in fact, have wholesale rate structure jurisdiction under the plain language of the Florida Statutes. A sharply divided panel of Commissioners however, rejected the recommendation of staff and declined to exercise jurisdiction. The Chairman of the Commission, Commissioner Jacobs, dissented on grounds that the plain language of the statute gave the Commission jurisdiction over Seminole's rate structure.

The relevant statutory provision is simple and clear. The Commission has jurisdiction "[t]o prescribe a rate structure for *all* electric utilities." § 366.04(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (2000) (emphasis added). Seminole concedes that it is an electric utility within the meaning of Section 366.04(2)(b). Moreover, there is nothing in Chapter

366, Florida Statutes, that expressly excepts the wholesale rate structure of rural electric cooperatives, such as Seminole, from the Commission's jurisdiction, even though Chapter 366 specifically excepts from regulation certain wholesale sales of power by investor-owned electric utilities.

In this brief, LCEC will show that Section 366.04(2)(b) plainly and unambiguously grants jurisdiction to the Commission to review and regulate Seminole's wholesale rate structure. This exercise of jurisdiction is consistent with the statutory purpose of Section 366.04, which was enacted in 1974 as part of the Grid Bill to encourage electric power conservation and to ensure the reliable distribution of power within a coordinated grid. Ch. 74-196, Laws of Fla. If the Commission does not exercise jurisdiction, Seminole's wholesale rate structure will go entirely unregulated even though it sharply departs from generally accepted rate making standards and the statutory goals of conservation and reliability. Thus, LCEC will have no choice but to bring its concerns over Seminole's rate structure to the Circuit Court. It makes no sense to interpret the statute to create a "regulatory gap" and leave to the various Circuit Courts around the state important questions of utility regulation within the technical expertise of the Commission.

Chairman Jacob's dissent and the staff's recommendation to accept jurisdiction are correct. This Court should reverse the majority's decision overruling staff and remand with instructions to reinstate LCEC's Complaint.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts are taken from LCEC's Complaint, which, of course, must be accepted as true for the purposes of this appeal. LCEC is a non-profit electric distribution cooperative organized under Chapter 425, Florida Statutes, and engaged in the distribution and sale of electric energy within its approved service territory in southwest Florida. LCEC serves approximately 139,000 customers, most of which are in Lee County (R. 8). Seminole is a non-profit electric generation and transmission cooperative also organized pursuant to Chapter 425. Seminole provides electricity at wholesale to its ten owner-members, one of which is LCEC. Each of Seminole's members, like LCEC, is a distribution electric cooperative engaged in the retail sale of electricity to Florida customers (R. 8).

LCEC purchases all of its power requirements from Seminole pursuant to a wholesale power contract between LCEC and Seminole originally dated May 22, 1975 and supplemented and amended from time to time (R. 71 at Ex. 1-A). Essentially, LCEC is a captive customer of Seminole. LCEC must purchase all of its power requirements from Seminole during the 45-year term of the contract, which does not expire until 2020 (R. 8, R. 71 at Ex. 1-A p.7). The contract does not set the rates but gives Seminole's Board the power to develop a rate structure pursuant to "generally accepted rate making standards" (R. 71 at Ex. 1-6 at ¶ 2). These rates must "recognize and provide for variations in the cost of providing services of different voltages, load factors and power factors . . . " (R. 71 at Ex. 1-C

at ¶ 2). There is no provision in the contract preventing LCEC or any other member of Seminole from filing a complaint with the Commission if Seminole's rate structure is not in accordance with generally accepted rate making standards (R. 71 at Ex. 1, R. 72 at ¶ 2).

On October 8, 1998, the Seminole Board approved a new rate schedule applicable to all of its members, Rate Schedule SECI-7, effective January 1, 1999 (R. 7-8). The new rate schedule is an abrupt departure from Seminole's historical rate structure. Under this new rate structure, a higher percentage of Seminole's fixed costs are shifted from the existing "demand charge" to a new "production fixed energy charge" which is allocated to members based on an average of their three-year historical energy usage (R. 9-10, 12, 14-17).

### **Rate Structure: Demand vs. Energy Charges**

An important and generally accepted principle of utility rates is that the rates imposed by a utility should, as closely as possible, mirror the actual costs of producing and distributing the electricity.

<sup>2</sup> As the Commission has noted, designing rate structures to accurately recover

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The rates established in Rate Schedule SECI-7 also reflect a reduction in the cost of providing service to Seminole members, which results from commendable cost control measures that Seminole has taken for the benefit of its members. This cost reduction is not the subject of LCEC's Complaint.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See In re: Investigation as to rate structure of municipal electric systems and rural electric cooperatives, 6 F.P.S.C. 3:519, 519 (1979) (rate structure should be based on the cost of service).

costs encourages efficiency and conservation.

The costs to be recovered by the rate structure include the fixed costs of constructing power generating facilities, variable costs such as fuel and labor to produce the electricity on a day-to-day basis as well as the costs of building and maintaining a transmission grid. A utility's rate structure is the method by which a utility attempts to fairly apportion these various costs among its customers based on factors such as the cost of serving the customers and the customer's power consumption and load characteristics. Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-9051(7) and 25-9.052(4) (R. 9-10, 14-17).

4

At issue in this case is the relationship between Seminole's demand and energy charges. The "demand charge" is that portion of the rate designed to recover the fixed costs of constructing electric generating and transmission capacity. A utility must have sufficient generating and transmission capacity

<sup>3</sup> *Id*.

For regulatory purposes, the Commission has clearly distinguished "rate making" from "rate structure". *See In re: General Investigation of Fuel Adjustment Clauses of Electric Companies*, Docket No. 74680-CI, Order No. 6899 (1975), 1975 Fla. PUC Lexis 171 at \*8 ("...[W]e perceive a clear distinction between the terms "rates" and "rate structure". This Commission . . . has traditionally utilized the former term in the context of determining the revenues necessary to provide a utility a reasonable rate of return. Conversely, the latter term is used to connote the rate relationship between various customer classes as well as the rate relationship between various levels of consumption within a customer class. Thus, ratemaking relates to the determination of dollars required by a utility while rate structure relates to the method by which those dollars shall be generated through the rate schedules of the utility."). The Commission went on to hold that Chapter 74-196 [the Grid Bill] vests the Commission with "rate structure", but not "ratemaking", jurisdiction over rural electric cooperatives. *Id.* at \*6-7.

available to serve all of its customers at peak demand, such as an August afternoon when every air conditioner is running and electricity demand is at its highest.

While some of this generating capacity may sit idle on a balmy Florida spring day when windows are open, breezes are blowing, and air conditioners are silent, a prudent utility must have system capacity immediately available to meet peak demand and avoid power outages (R. 14-17).

A "demand charge" represents a utility's attempt to apportion the cost of this peak capacity among its customers. For example, a customer representing 10% of that peak demand should pay a demand charge designed to recover 10% of the fixed costs of constructing the generating capacity needed to meet that customer's peak demand. This is only fair because the customer that creates the need for 10% of the generating capacity required to meet peak demand should pay for those costs.

The "energy charge" in a utility's rate structure is designed to recover the variable costs of producing electricity. Such costs include the fuel and variable operations and maintenance costs incurred to produce electric power as needed. Each customer pays a per kilowatt hour energy charge based on the number of kilowatt hours used.

The distinction between demand and energy charges is important. By imposing a demand charge reflective of a customer's share of peak demand, utilities provide financial incentives for load management that encourage

customers to shift their electricity demands from peak to off-peak periods. In doing so, a utility lowers its peak demands and, therefore, reduces the fixed costs of generation necessary to meet the total peak demand.

With the financial incentives provided by a properly calculated demand charge, customers are more likely to participate in load management programs which permit a utility to cut off power to air conditioners or pool pumps for short periods of time during periods of peak demand. Likewise, industrial customers might install self-generating equipment to supply their own needs during peak periods or shift production from afternoons to the night time when demand is reduced. Encouraging customers to manage peak demand results in lower costs of producing or purchasing electricity and may reduce the need for further generating capacity (R. 9-10, 14-17).

Florida law recognizes the importance of reducing peak demand through load management. Section 366.81 declares a legislative intent to encourage energy conservation through control of peak demand and forbids any discrimination in rates to customers that utilize load management.

#### The Problem with Seminole's New Rate Structure

Seminole's new rate structure is not in accordance with generally accepted rate making standards because it transfers an inordinate portion of Seminole's fixed costs from the demand charge to the energy charge. In other words, Seminole's new rate structure takes a portion of its fixed costs and, instead of recovering those fixed costs through the demand charge, recovers those charges through a new "production fixed energy charge (R. 9-10, 14-17, 219-21, R. 7 at Ex. 1)." This production fixed energy charge is calculated based on each member's three-year historical energy usage (R. 14-17, 219-21).

As a result, Seminole's new rate structure arbitrarily removes incentives for the customer to limit peak demand and is not reflective of fundamental principles of cost causation. Equally important, the new rate structure is contrary to sound regulatory policy because it unreasonably inhibits energy conservation and favors construction of otherwise uneconomic new generation (R. 14-17, 219-21). In particular, by assessing the production fixed energy charge on the basis of 3-year historical usage, rather than on current demand requirements, Seminole's rate structure makes it exceedingly difficult for LCEC to encourage retail customers to conserve electric energy. Indeed, the production fixed energy charge will be the same for the current month regardless of whether LCEC's retail customers increase or decrease their energy usage during the month. LCEC also believes that the new rate structure puts its load management program in serious jeopardy. At the time it

filed its Complaint, LCEC had 46,000 residential customers on load management programs and a significant corresponding investment in load control equipment. Because Seminole's new rate structure provides no economic incentives for energy conservation, it is no longer cost effective for LCEC to utilize the load control equipment in which it has invested (R. 15-16).

#### **LCEC's Complaint**

The Seminole Board approved the new rate structure on October 8, 1998, over the objections of LCEC. On December 8, 1998, LCEC filed its Complaint with the Commission, asking the Commission to conduct a full investigation and evidentiary hearing on Seminole's new rate structure (R. 7-20).

<sup>5</sup> LCEC based its Complaint on Section 366.04(2)(b) which gives the Commission power to "prescribe a rate structure for all electric utilities." The Commission's charge is to prescribe a "fair, just and reasonable" rate structure taking into consideration the cost of providing service to each customer class, the load characteristics of various classes of customers, fairness in apportioning costs, avoidance of undue discrimination, and encouragement of efficiency. Florida Admin. Code R. 25-9.052(4).

Seminole moved to dismiss LCEC's Complaint, claiming that the Commission is without jurisdiction to review Seminole's wholesale rate structure (R. 71-88). In response, LCEC pointed out that the Commission's exercise of jurisdiction falls squarely within the language and intent of Section 366.04 and is consistent with the Commission's duty to encourage conservation and ensure the reliability of the electric grid (R. 91-92, R. 99-101).

The Commission staff recommended denial of Seminole's motion to dismiss

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> After LCEC filed its Complaint, Seminole revised its rate structure adopting Rate Schedule SEC1-7b. The new rate structure contains the same structural flaws as SEC1-7.

(R. 174, 287). The staff concluded that the Commission's exercise of jurisdiction fit within the plain language of Section 366.04(2)(b) and within the broad purpose of Section 366.04 which is to require electric power conservation and ensure reliability within a coordinated electric grid. The staff pointed out that, in the absence of jurisdiction, the wholesale rate structure of rural electric cooperatives would go entirely unregulated (R. 182-91).

The Commission met and considered the motion to dismiss twice. The first time the motion was denied by virtue of a 2-2 tie vote (R. 198-99). Upon the request of the parties, the Commission later reconsidered the jurisdictional issue and this time a panel of Commissioners voted 2-1 to reject the staff's recommendation and to dismiss LCEC's Complaint (R. 305). The majority held that the statutes do not "expressly indicate that this Commission has jurisdiction to prescribe a wholesale rate structure for a rural electric cooperative" (R. 375). Chairman Jacobs filed a dissenting opinion articulating why the majority in the panel had erred in granting the motion to dismiss. According to Commissioner Jacobs, the plain language and intent of the statute dictate the exercise of jurisdiction over Seminole's wholesale rate structure (R. 377-385).

LCEC's timely appeal followed (R. 386).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Commission was wrong to reject the recommendation of its legal and technical staff and decline jurisdiction over LCEC's Complaint. Section 366.04(2)(b) gives the Commission the broad power to "prescribe a rate structure for all electric utilities." Seminole concedes that it is an electric utility within the meaning of Section 366.04. Thus, the inevitable conclusion is that the Commission has the power to prescribe a rate structure for rural electric cooperatives, like Seminole, that sell only at wholesale.

The Commission's exercise of this jurisdiction is consistent with the purpose of the Grid Bill, which gives the Commission the duty to prescribe fair, just and reasonable rate structures to encourage conservation and ensure a reliable power grid. LCEC's Complaint concerning Seminole's rate structure falls squarely within this purpose. The whole point of LCEC's Complaint is that Seminole's new rate structure discourages conservation by substantially reducing the incentives to participate in load management and other conservation programs. As a result, Seminole's rate structure is arbitrary and unreasonable and directly contrary to the purpose of the Grid Bill.

If the Commission declines to exercise jurisdiction here, LCEC will have no choice but to take its complaint over Seminole's rate structure to Circuit Court. It makes no sense, however, for the Circuit Courts, rather than the Commission, to make energy policy for the state. The Commission, not the various Circuit Courts, is uniquely qualified to determine whether Seminole's rate structure is consistent with Florida energy policy as expressed by the Grid Bill.

#### ARGUMENT

The Commission should have accepted the recommendation of its staff and exercised jurisdiction over LCEC's Complaint. This brief opens with a discussion of the applicable statute, Section 366.04, proving that the Commission's exercise of jurisdiction is required by the plain language of the statute and the absence of any exception relating to the Commission's exercise of jurisdiction over wholesale rate structures. The brief then shows that the exercise of jurisdiction is consistent with the purpose of Section 366.04, which is to encourage conservation and ensure a reliable power grid. Next, the brief demonstrates that if the Commission does not exercise jurisdiction, wholesale rate structures of rural electric cooperatives will go entirely unregulated. Inevitably this "regulatory gap" will result in Circuit Courts, rather than the Commission, making energy policy for the state in a highly technical area where the Commission has specific expertise. Finally, the brief demonstrates that the Commission's previous inactivity in the area of wholesale rate regulation cannot excuse the Commission from exercising its statutory duties. This Court should reverse and direct the Commission to reinstate LCEC's Complaint.

#### Standard of Review

The Commission's granting of a motion to dismiss is a legal question reviewed *de novo*. *See Execu-tech Bus. Sys. v. New Oji Paper Co.*, 752 So. 2d 582, 584 (Fla. 2000); *Southwest Florida Water Management District v. Save the* 

*Manatee Club, Inc.*, 773 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000) (courts are free to disagree with agency on questions of law).

# I. THE COMMISSION'S EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION IS COMPELLED BY THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE.

The divided panel of Commissioners below erroneously held that the Commission has no jurisdiction over wholesale rate structures of rural electric cooperatives. This position is belied first and foremost by the plain language of the statute, which must control. See, e.g., City of Miami Beach v. Galbut, 626 So. 2d 192, 193 (Fla. 1993) (if statute is unambiguous, it must be enforced as written without any need to resort to statutory construction); Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984) (same). The statutory language at issue here is refreshingly simple. The Commission has the power to "prescribe a rate structure for all electric utilities." § 366.04(2)(b) (emphasis added). Section 366.02(2) defines "electric utility" to mean "any municipal electric utility, investor-owned electric utility, or rural electric cooperative which owns, maintains, or operates an electric generation, transmission, or distribution system within the state." Seminole concedes that it is an "electric utility" within the meaning of Section 366.04(2)(b). There is also no question that Seminole's rate structure is at issue. Thus, the plain and unambiguous language of Section 366.04(2)(b) provides the Commission with jurisdiction over LCEC's Complaint.

The Commission suggested (contrary to the recommendation of its staff) that

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