#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Lee County Electric Cooperative,	)
Inc.,	) Case No. SC01-373
	)
Appellant,	) FPSC Docket No. 981827-E
	)
vs.	)
	)
E. Leon Jacobs, Jr., et al.,	)
	)
Appellees.	)
	)

# APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

HAROLD MCLEAN
General Counsel
Florida Bar No. 193591

MARY ANNE HELTON Associate General Counsel Florida Bar No. 894095

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 2540 Shumard Oak Blvd.
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0862 (850) 413-6096

###

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

The Commission's Final Order finding that it was without jurisdiction to hear LCEC's complaint should be affirmed. Section 366.04(2)(b), Florida Statutes, provides the Commission with jurisdiction to prescribe a rate structure for all electric utilities. The Commission properly construed section 366.04(2)(b) as not extending its jurisdiction to regulate a rate schedule attached to a wholesale power contract negotiated between two self-regulated bodies.

Section 366.04(2)(b) should not be read in isolation. The statute is not plain and unambiguous when viewed in the context of the Grid Bill and chapter 366. The Commission's main role is to protect the public from monopolistic abuses, and not to oversee a negotiated contract between two self-regulated bodies. The Grid Bill was enacted to give the Commission expanded authority over the planning, development, and coordination of electric facilities throughout the state. When the Legislature enacted the Grid Bill, it was widely believed that the Administrator of the Rural Electrification Act preempted any other governmental jurisdiction over the wholesale rate structure of cooperatives. Thus, there was no need for the Legislature to specify that the Commission's rate structure jurisdiction was over retail electric utilities only, because to do so would have been superfluous.

In the 25 years that the Commission has had jurisdiction over the rate structure of electric utilities, the Commission has never regulated Seminole, who sells power only at wholesale to its members. Instead, the Commission has asserted its rate structure jurisdiction over only cooperatives that sell at retail. During this time, the Legislature has never indicated that the Commission's interpretation of section 366.04(2)(b) was wrong. When interpreting the statute, the long acquiescence by the legislature in a particular construction is entitled to great weight and that weight should be accorded here.

It does not matter that the Commission's decision leaves a regulatory gap. There is no federal requirement that states regulate the wholesale rate structure of cooperatives. Any dispute between LCEC and Seminole over the rate schedule attached to their contract can be resolved by the courts.

The Commission's construction of the statute it is charged with enforcing is entitled to great deference. Courts should not depart from an agency's interpretation of a statute unless it is clearly erroneous or unauthorized. The Commission's decision that it will not interfere with the negotiated contract between two self-regulated parties should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. THE COMMISSION'S INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTE IS LAWFUL AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The central issue in this case is whether the Commission has jurisdiction to hear LCEC's complaint, in which LCEC seeks to have the Commission review the wholesale rate schedule of Seminole, a rural electric cooperative that sells power only at wholesale to its member-owners. Seminole does not sell power to retail customers.

The case turns on whether the Commission has rate structure jurisdiction over Seminole's wholesale rate schedule under section 366.04(2)(b), Florida Statutes. Pursuant to this provision, the Legislature provided the Commission with jurisdiction "[t]o prescribe a rate structure for all electric utilities." Section 366.04(2)(b), Fla. Stat. It is undisputed that Seminole is an electric utility as that term is defined in Section 366.02(2), Florida Statutes.<sup>2</sup> Contrary to the arguments raised by LCEC, however, the Legislature did not intend for the Commission to regulate Seminole's wholesale rate schedule.

LCEC argues that under the plain and unambiguous meaning of section 366.04(2)(b), the Commission must regulate Seminole's

Pursuant to section 366.02(2), Florida Statutes, "'electric utility' means any municipal electric utility, investor-owned electric utility, or rural electric cooperative which owns, maintains, or operates an electric generation, transmission, or distribution system within the state."

wholesale rate schedule. LCEC is wrong. When it is read in the proper historical context with the Grid Bill and the remainder of chapter 366, Florida Statutes, section 366.04(2)(b) does not plainly and unambiguously provide the Commission with rate structure jurisdiction over cooperatives that sell wholesale power only, pursuant to contracts with their member-owners.

#### A. History of Electric Utility Regulation

Early in the last century, the United States Supreme Court held that state control over interstate wholesale power transactions imposed a direct burden on national commerce, in violation of the Commerce Clause of the U.S. Constitution. Public Utilities Commission of Rhode Island v. Attleboro Steam & Electric Co., 273 U.S. 83 (1927). In response to that decision, Congress created the Federal Power Commission (FPC), now the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), to regulate wholesale sales by investor-owned electric utilities. Charles G. Stalon and Reinier H. J. H. Lock, State-Federal Relations in the Economic Regulation of Energy, 7 Yale J. on Reg. 427, 439 (Summer, 1990).

At about the same time, Congress enacted the Rural Electrification Act (REA). 7 U.S.C.S. §901, et seq. Cooperatives were created "to provide electricity to those sparsely settled areas which the investor-owned utilities had not found it profitable to service." Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and Power District v. Federal Power Commission, 391

F.2d at 470, 473 (D.C. Cir. 1968). Cooperatives are distinctly different from investor-owned electric utilities, who are solely motivated by profit. Cooperatives are also organized differently than investor-owned electric utilities:

[C]ooperatives are effectively self-regulating. They are completely owned and controlled by their consumermembers, and only consumers can become members. They are non-profit. Each member has a single vote in the affairs of the cooperative, and service is essentially limited to members. No officer receives a salary for his services and officers and directors are prohibited from engaging in any transactions with the cooperative from which they can earn a profit.

Id.

The Commission began regulating the retail sales of investorowned electric or public utilities in 1951. Ch. 26545, Laws of
Fla. (1951). The Legislature established uniform statewide
regulation of electric investor-owned utilities because regulation
over the investor-owned electric utilities by local governments was
piecemeal and inconsistent. Richard C. Bellak and Martha Carter
Brown, Drawing the Lines: Statewide Territorial Boundaries for
Public Utilities in Florida, 19 Fla. St. U.L. Rev. 407, 409 (Fall
1991). The Commission did not have any kind of jurisdiction over
cooperatives until the Legislature enacted the Grid Bill in 1974,
codified at sections 366.04(2) and 366.05(7)-(8), Florida Statutes.
Bellak and Brown at 414; Ch. 74-196, Laws of Fla.

The primary purpose of the Grid Bill "was to give the Commission expanded authority over the planning, development, and

coordination of electric facilities throughout the state." Bellak and Brown at 415. When the Legislature enacted the Grid Bill, the focus was on "the energy problems of the State." Id. at 414. It was believed that a coordinated energy grid "would use energy more efficiently and would help control the dramatic rise in the cost of electricity." Id.

At the time the Legislature gave the Commission jurisdiction over cooperatives for limited purposes, the FPC had determined less than 10 years earlier that it did not have jurisdiction over the wholesale rates of cooperatives. <u>Dairyland Power Cooperative</u>, 37 F.P.C. 12 (1967). The FPC reasoned that because of the Administrator of the Rural Electrification Act's (REA's) plenary authority over cooperatives, Congress did not intend for the FPC to regulate this type of electric utilities as well. <u>Id</u>. at 16. <u>See also</u>, <u>Salt River Project</u>, 391 F.2d 470 (Agreeing with the FPC that it does not have jurisdiction over cooperatives).

Thus, at the time that the Florida Legislature enacted the Grid Bill in 1974, the presiding sentiment was that the administrator of the REA had preemptive federal jurisdiction over cooperatives. The Legislature did not specify that the Commission's rate structure jurisdiction over electric utilities applied only to retail service because to do so would have been superfluous. McNely v. Ocala Star-Banner Corp., 99 F.3d 1068, 1076 (11th Cir. 1996), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1228 (It is a familiar

cannon of statutory construction that "evaluation of congressional action must take into account its contemporary legal context.").

# B. The Legislature's use of the term rate structure leads to ambiguity

Under the circumstances of this case, the meaning of section 366.04(2)(b) was not at all clear. The Commission struggled with the application of its rate structure jurisdiction to a negotiated contract between a wholesale power cooperative and its members. As noted by Commissioner Deason:

[T]o me, rate structure means the structure of the rates as they relate to different rate classes, and a classic example is residential, commercial, industrial, classifications of those types. And that rate structure connotates to me an offering by a utility that says these are the terms and conditions that we will provide service to you, and if you meet these terms and conditions, you will be provided the service on a nondiscriminatory basis, and it doesn't really apply to a situation where you have entities who have voluntarily entered into a negotiated contract.

And if there are provisions within that contract which allow for the rates to change over time, I still don't think that that meets the definition of a rate structure as I think it's contemplated. And for that reason, I do not think the Commission has jurisdiction to prescribe rate structure on a wholesale basis when that was from the result of a contractual negotiated situation between the parties.

#### (V. II R. 362-63)

Commissioner Deason was troubled because the rate schedule is part of a negotiated contract between Seminole and its members. The contract specifically provides that all board members are entitled to vote on any rate schedule revisions, and LCEC is duly

represented on the board. Under these facts, it was difficult to discern any discriminatory or unfair treatment of LCEC, the evil that Commission's jurisdiction over rate structure is designed to prevent. Cf. Action Group v. Deason, 615 So. 2d 683, 685 (Fla. 1993).

Because the Commission could not square Seminole's contract rate that had been approved by the board with its understanding of its rate structure authority under section 366.04(2)(b), the Commission determined that its authority did not reach that far. The Commission found "that there are cogent reasons to believe that the Legislature did not intend for our rate structure jurisdiction to extend to the wholesale rate schedule at issue in this case." (APP-1, p. 9; V. II R. 375)

#### C. The result of Commission jurisdiction

If the Commission were to assert jurisdiction over the wholesale rate structure of cooperatives, it would be asserting more jurisdiction over cooperatives than it does over electric investor-owned utilities. The Commission does not regulate the wholesale rate structure of investor-owned utilities. Yet, if the Commission were to assert jurisdiction as LCEC requests, the Commission would suddenly be in the business of regulating the wholesale rate structure of municipal and cooperative electric utilities who engage in wholesale transactions with investor-owned utilities as well as other municipals and cooperatives. When the

Legislature enacted the Grid Bill, it is very doubtful that it intended to give the Commission more jurisdiction over cooperatives or municipals than that reposed in the Commission over investorowned electric utilities.

Asserting jurisdiction over municipal and cooperative wholesale sales would result in the Commission usurping the authority of self-governing bodies to negotiate wholesale power contracts. The Commission decided against such a result, because it believed that "the Legislature did not intend our rate structure jurisdiction to apply to wholesale rates set by the terms of a negotiated contract between rural electric cooperatives." (APP-1, p. 10; V. II R. 376)

## D. The rules of statutory construction dictate that the Commission's order should be affirmed

In reaching its conclusion that it was without subject matter jurisdiction to hear LCEC's complaint, the Commission acknowledged that its "powers and duties are only those conferred expressly or impliedly by statute." (APP-1, p. 9; V. II R. 375); City of Cape Coral v. GAC Utilities, Inc., of Florida, 281 So. 2d 493, 496 (Fla. 1973). The Commission also relied on the time-honored maxim of statutory construction that "any reasonable doubt as to the existence of a particular power compels [the agency] to resolve that doubt against the exercise of such jurisdiction." (APP-1, p.

9; R 375); City of Cape Coral, 281 So. 2d at 496. In this case, the closeness of both votes taken by the Commission when considering Seminole's motion to dismiss reveal that there was ambiguity and reasonable doubt surrounding the Commission's jurisdiction. The Commission did as Florida law requires when there is reasonable doubt. The Commission found that it lacked jurisdiction over Seminole's rate structure.

An agency's contemporaneous interpretation of a statute which it is charged with enforcing is entitled to great weight. PW Ventures, Inc. v. Nichols, 533 So. 2d 281, 283 (Fla. 1988). Courts should not depart from an agency's interpretation of such a statute unless it is clearly erroneous or unauthorized. Id. In this case, it has been over 25 years since the Legislature enacted the Grid Bill. During that time, the Commission has never asserted jurisdiction over the wholesale rate structure of cooperatives. Nor has the Legislature instructed the Commission that its interpretation was wrong.

When section 366.04(2)(b) is read in context with the Grid Bill and Chapter 366, Florida Statutes, the Commission's interpretation that it is without jurisdiction over Seminole is reasonable and lawful. Acosta v. Richter, 671 So. 2d 149, 154 (Fla. 1996) ("Statutory phrases are not to be read in isolation, but rather within the context of the entire section."). LCEC has not shown that the Commission's interpretation of section

366.04(2)(b) is erroneous. The Commission's Final Order dismissing LCEC's complaint should be affirmed because it was based on a lawful construction of the statute.

# II. THE COMMISSION'S DECISION THAT IT IS WITHOUT JURISDICTION IS CONSISTENT WITH THE OVERALL PURPOSE OF CHAPTER 366, AND IS NOT INCONSISTENT WITH THE GRID BILL

LCEC argues that the exercise of Commission jurisdiction would be inconsistent with the Grid Bill. LCEC's argument disregards both the Commission's treatment of cooperative conservation efforts as well as the legislative purpose of chapter 366. For the reasons discussed below, the Commission's determination that it is without jurisdiction over the wholesale rate structure of Seminole is consistent with the Grid Bill and chapter 366.

#### A. Commission actions taken under the Grid Bill

After the Grid Bill was enacted, the Commission considered the issue of whether it had ratemaking jurisdiction over cooperatives and municipal systems based on section 366.04(2)(b). In re:

General investigation of fuel adjustment clauses of electric companies, Docket No. 74680-CI, Order No. 6899, issued September 10, 1975. The Commission concluded that it did not. The Commission found that the Legislature had "made a marked distinction between jurisdiction over rates or ratemaking, and the prescription of a rate structure." Under its contemporaneous analysis of the Grid Bill, the Commission concluded that "the main purpose of the law is to place authority in the Commission for the

development of a total energy network or grid for the State of Florida."  $\underline{\text{Id}}$ .

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